


TO:

FROM:

"AGENDA ITEM: 7A

TAMALPAIS COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
Staff Report
Parks and Recreation Commission Meeting
April 25, 2023

LY

it

PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION (PARC)

GARRETT TOY, GENERAL MANAGER

SUBJECT: CONDUCT ORIENTATION OF NEW PARC MEMBERS

RECOMMENDATION

Conduct orientation.

BACKGROUND

At its April 12*" meeting, the Board appointed the following five members to PARC: Michael
Bogart, Valerie Jordan, Pam Keon, Erin Rosenbiatt, Michael Wisner.

DISCUSSION
The orientation will include, but is not limited to, the following:

1.

Introduétion of Commissioners and staff. ‘

This is an opportunity for the Commissioners to share some of their background and
interest with one another and for staff to share their roles and responsibilities within TCSD.

Overview of TCSD operations including Parks and Recreation.
Staff will provide a brief overview of TCSD’s three main functions: Solid Waste collection,
Wastewater collection, and Parks and Recreation activities.

Discuss Rosenberg’s Rules of Order to conduct meetings.

The TCSD Board (Board} adopted Rosenberg’s Rule of Crder for all TCSD boards and
commission. Staff will provide a brief overview of the rules for how to conduct a public
meeting. Attached is a copy of Rosenberg’s Rules of Order.

Discuss Brown Act regulations.
All public meetings such as PARC are subject to the Ralph M Brown Act, Staff will provide a
brief overview of the Brown Act. A brochure is attached for your reference.

Discuss PARC's roles and responsibilities including policies, studies, and strategies to
review.

The Board adopted Ordinance No. 99 which established the duties and responsibilities of
PARC as shown below. Staff will provide more detail at the meeting.

“The Parks and Recreation Commission shall review, make recommendations to and/or
advise the District on policies relating to the creation, operations, use policies,
maintenance, improvements, management, and/or user fees for all parks, playgrounds,
Community Center, Cabin, trails, and open space parcels as well as community recreation
programs and event activities, The Commission shall prepare annual work plans for review



10.

AGENDA ITEM: 7A

and approval by the Board, unless such a requirement is waived by the Board. The Board of
Directors may, by resolution, limit or establish additional duties and responsibilities for the
Commission. The duties and responsibilities of PARC is in essence the same as the former
Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission. ”

Discuss contact information for the public including TCSD website.

Should a resident wish to contact PARC members, we will need to discuss the preferred
form of contact (e.g., create TCSD email addresses for PARC) as well as Commissioner
information on the TCSD website.

Discuss terms of office.

Per Ordinance No. 99, two of the initial five (5) appointments would be for two (2)-
year terms. The selection of which appointees would serve two and three-year terms
would be determined by a random drawing of names at the meeting. The Board has
not taken this action yet, but it is scheduled for the May 10 meeting. We thought if
PARC members had a preference for their term, we could make a recommendation to
the Board.

Establish regular meeting day and time.

PARC will need to set a regular meeting day and time such as the third Tuesday of the
month or once per quarter. Please remember PARC can always meet more often, but it
does need to establish a regular meeting day and time, subject to Board approval.

Select chair and vice-chair.
PARC will need to select a chair and vice-chair.

Other topics of interest, questions, and/or recommendations for the Board to consider.
This is an opportunity for PARC to discuss more general issues.

FISCAL IMPACT

n/a

ATTACHMENTS

Rosenberg’s Rules of Order
Brown Act brochure










About the ALthOr v
TRETOAILCHION chet it i s s s e st b as et b s
Establishing a QUOIUIMN c.ouovv it s st
The Role of the C.halr
The Basic Format for an Agenda [tem DiSCUSSION .o vereniromammiimmsone
Motions 0 GENELal ioviviviiiiass s
The Three Basic MOtiOmS .o s s
Multiple Motions Before the Body ... s
To Debate or NOt t0 Debate.. s s sssssasnas
Majority and Super-Majority VOLES ..o s sssss s s
COUNtIIE VOES. iviiimirciinaminesin st e sen s s s s s aans
The Motion to Reconsider . . inmommamaimaioomsmsannmmn noa
Courtesy and DECOTUIN v i os oo o

Special Notes About Public INput ... s s

il



The rules of procedure at meetings should be simple enough for
most people to understand. Unfortunately, that has not always been
the case. Virtually all clubs, associations, boards, councils and bodies
follow a set of rules — Robert’s Rules of Order — which are embodied
in a small, but complex, book. Virtually no one [ know has actually
read this book cover to cover. Worse yet, the book was written for
another time and for another purpose. If one is chairing or running
a parliament, then Robert’s Rules of Order is a dandy and quite useful
handbook for procedure in that complex setting, On the other hand,
if one is running a meeting of say, a five-member body with a few
members of the public in attendance, a simplified version of the rules
of parliamentary procedure is in order.

Hence, the birth of Resenberg’s Rules of Order.

‘What follows is my version of the rules of parliamentary procedure,
based on my decades of experience chairing meetings in state and
local government. These rules have been simplified for the smaller
bodies we chair or in which we participate, simmed down for the
21st Century, yet retaining the basic tenets of order to which we have
grown accustomed. Interestingly enough, Rosenberg’s Rules has found
a welcoming andience. Hundreds of cities, counties, special districts,
committees, boards, commissions, neighborhood associations and
private corporations and companies have adopted Rosenberg’s Rules
in lieu of Robert’s Rules because they have found them practical,
logical, simple, easy to learn and user friendly.

This treatise on modern parliamentary procedure is built on a
foundation supperted by the following four pillars:

‘he first purpose of rules of
POLHALIGLIGL § PLUGGUUILL 13 W wstablish a framework for the
orderly conduct of meetings.

simple rules lead to wider understanding
and participation. Complex rules create two classes: thase
who understand and participate; and those who do not fully
understand and do not fully participate.

“hat is, the rules must be simple
enougn LaL e pusnc 1s mvited into the body and feels that it
has participated in the process.

Procequre 15 1o eNCoUrage aiscussion and (o [CLITATe aecision
making by the body. In a democracy, majority rules. The rules
must enable the majority to express itself and fashion a result,
while permitting the minority to also express itself, but not
dominate, while fully participating in the process.

‘The starting point tor a meeting is the establishment of a quorum.
A quorum is defined as the minimum number of members of the
body who miust be present at a meeting for business to be legally
transacted. The default rule is that a quorum is one more than half
the body. For example, in a five-member body a quorum is three,
When the body has three members present, it can legally transact
business, If the body has less than a quorum of members present, it
cannot legally transact business. And even if the body has a quorum
to begin the meeting, the body can lose the quorum during the
meeting when a member departs (or even when a member leaves the
dais). When that occurs the body loses its ability to transact business
until and unless a quorum is reestablished.

The default rule, identified above, however, gives way to a specific
rule of the body that establishes a quorum. For example, the rules of
a particular five-member body may indicate that a quorum is four
members for that particular body. The body must follow the rules it
has established for its quorum. In the absence of such a specific rnle,
the quorum is one more than half the members of the body.

While all members of the body should know and understand the
rules of parliamentary procedure, it is the chair of the body who is
charged with applying the rules of conduct of the meeting. The chair
should be well versed in those rules, For all intents and purposes, the
chair makes the final ruling on the rules every time the chair states an
action. In fact, all decisions by the chair are final unless overruted by
the body itself.

Since the chair runs the conduct of the meeting, it is usual courtesy
for the chair to play a less active role in the debate and discussion
than other members of the body. This does not mean that the chair
should not participate in the debate or discussion. To the contrary, as
a member of the body, the chair has the full right to participate in the
debate, discussion and decision-making of the body. What the chair
should do, however, is strive to be the last to speak at the discussion
and debate stage. The chair should not make or second a motion
unless the chair is convinced that no other member of the body will
do so at that point in time.

£OTINAL Meeungs NOIMAly Nave d WIITEN, OIlen pupusnea agenda.
Informal meetings may have only an oral or understood agenda. In
either case, the meeting is governed by the agenda and the agenda
constitutes the body's agreed-upon roadmap for the meeting. Each
agenda item can be handled by the chair in the following basic
tormat:






fa member wants to change a basic motion
that 1s betore the body, they would move to amend it, A motion
to amend might be: “I move that we amend the motion to have a
10-mnember committee.” A motion to amend takes the basic motion
that is before the body and secks to change it in some way.

fa member wants to completely do away
with the basic motion that is before the body, and put @ new motion
before the body, they would move a substitute motion. A substitute
motion might be: “I move a substitute motion that we cancel the
annual fundraiser this year.”

“Motions to amend” and “substitute motions” are often confused, but
they are quite different, and their effect (if passed) is quite different.
A motion to amend seeks to retain the basic motion on the floor, but
modify it in some way. A substitute motion seeks to throw out the
basic motion on the floor, and substitute a new and different motion
for it. The decision as to whether a motion is really a “motion to
amend” or a “substitute motion” is left to the chair. So if a member
makes what that member calls a “motion to amend,” but the chair
determines that it is really a “substitute motion,” then the chair’s
designation governs.

A*friendly amendment” is a practical parliamentary tool that is
simple, informal, saves time and avoids bogging a meeting down
with numerous formal motions, It works in the following way: In the
discussion on a pending motion, it may appear that a change to the
motion is desirable or may win support for the motion from some
members. When that happens, a member who has the floor may
simply say, “I want to suggest a friendly amendment to the motion.”
The member suggests the friendly amendment, and if the maker and
the person who seconded the motion pending on the floor accepts
the friendly amendment, that now becomes the pending motion on
the floor. If either the maker or the person wheo seconded rejects the
proposed friendly amendment, then the proposer can formally move
to amend.

There can be up to three motions on the tloor at the same time.
The chair can reject a fourth motion until the chair has dealt
with the three that are on the floor and has resolved thein. This
rule has practical value. More than three motions on the floor at
any given time is confusing and unwieldy for almost everyone,
including the chair.

When there are two or three motions on the floor {after motions and
seconds) at the same time, the vote should proceed first on the last
motion that is made. For example, assume the first motion is a hasic
“motion to have a five-member committee to plan and put on our
annual fundraiser” During the discussion of this motion, a member
might make a second motion to “amend the main motion to have a
10-member committee, not a five-member committee to plan and
put on our annual fundraiser” And perhaps, during that discussion, a
member makes yet a third motion as a “substitute motion that we not
have an annual fundraiser this year.” The proper procedure would be
as follows:

he chair would deal with the third {the last) motion on the
tloor, the substitute motion. After discussion and debate, a vote
would be takeu first on the third motion. If the substitute motion
passed, it would be a substitute for the basic motion and would
eliminate it, The first motion would be moot, as wouid the second
motion {which sought to amend the first motion), and the action on
the agenda itemn would be completed ou the passage by the bady of
the third motion (the substitute motion). No vote would be taken on
the first or second motions.

f the substitute motion failed, the chair would then deal
with the second (now the last) motion on the floor, the motion
to amend. The discussion and debate would focus strictly on the
amendment (should the committee be five or 10 members). If the
motion to amend passed, the chair would then move to consider the
main motion (the first motion) as amended, If the motion to amend
failed, the chair would then move to consider the main motion {the
first motion) in its original format, not amended.

he chair would now deal with the first motion that was placed
on the toor. The original motion would cither be in its original
format (five-member committeel),‘lor if amended, would be In its
amended format {10-member commiittee). The question on the floor
for discussion and decision would be whether a committee should
plan and put on the annual fuudraiser.

The basic rule of motions is that they are subject to discussion and
debate. Accordingly, basic motions, motions to amend, and substitute
motions are all eligible, each in their turn, for full discussion before
and by the body. The debate can continue as long as members of the
body wish to discuss an item, subject to the decision of the chair that
it is time to move on and take action.

There are exceptions to the general rule of free and open debate

on motions. The exceptions all apply when there is a desire of the
body to move on. The following motions are not debatable {that
is, when the following motions are made and seconded, the chair
must immediately call for a vote of the body without debate on the
motion}:

Chis motion, if passed, requires the body to
immediately adjourn to its next regularly scheduled meeting, It
requires a simple majority vote.

Chis motion, if passed, requires the body to
immeararery Take a recess, Normally, the chair determines the length
of the recess which may be a few ininutes or an hour. It requires a
simple majority vote,

this motion, if passed, requires
UL pudy w awoutn we meenng a the specific time set in the
motion. For example, the motion might be: “I move we adjourn this
meeting at midnight.” It requires a simple majority vote,



Chis motion, if passed, requires discussion of the
agenda item to be halted and the agenda item to be placed on “hold.”
The motion can contain a specific time it which the itein can come
back to the body. “I maove we table this iten1 until our regular meeting
in October” Or the motion can contain no specific tine for the
return of the item, in which case a motion to take the item off the
table and bring it back to the body will have to be taken at a future
meeting, A motion to table an item {or to bring it back to the body)
requires a simple majority vote.

The most common form of this motion is to
say, "L move the previous question” or “I move the question” or “I call
the question” or sometimes someone simply shouts out “question,”
As a practical matter, when a member calls out one of these phrases,
the chair can expedite matters by treating it as a “request” rather
than as a formal motion, The chair can simply inquire of the body,
“any further discussion?” If no one wishes to have further discussion,
then the chair can go right to the pending motion that is on the floor.
However, if even one person wishes to discuss the pending motion
further, then at that point, the chair should treat the call for the
“question” as a formal motion, and proceed to it.

When a rucinber of the body makes such a motion (“I move the
previous question”), the member is really saying: “I’ve had enough
debate, Let’s get on with the vote” When such a motion is made, the
chair should ask for a second, stop debate, and vote on the motion to
limit debate. The motion to limit debate requires a two-thirds vote of
the body.

4 motion to limit debate could include a time limit. For
example: “I move we limit debate on this agenda item to 15 minutes”
Even in this format, the motion to limit debate requires a two-
thirds vote of the body. A sirilar motion is a motion to object to
consideration of an item. This motion is not debatable, and if passed,
precludes the body from even considering an item on the agenda. It
also requires a two-thirds vote.

In a democracy, a simple majority vote determines a question. A tie
vote means the motion fails. So in a seven-member body, a vote of
4-3 passes the motion. A vote of 3-3 with one abstention means the
motion fails. If one member is absent and the vote is 3-3, the motion
still fails.

All motions require a simple majority, but there are a few exceptions,
The exceptions come up when the body is taking an action which
effectively cuts off the ability of a minority of the body to take an
action or discuss an itern. These extraordinary motions require a
two-thirds majority (a super majority) to pass:

Nhether a member says, “I move the
previous question,” or "I move the question,” or “I call the question,”
or “I move to limit debate,” it all amounts to an attempt to cut off the
ability of the minority to discuss an item, and it requires a two-thirds
vote to pass.

¥hen choosing officers of the
body (such as the chair), normnations are in order either from a
nominating committee or from the floor of the body. A motion to
close nominations effectively cuis off the right of the minority to
nominate officers and it requires a two-thirds vote to pass.

Normally, such
d IIIOLI01L 1S UHIECESSATY 511CE LIS ODJECLIGIIALIE eI CATl be tab]ed or
defeated straight up. However, when members of a body do not even
want an item on the agenda to be considered, then such a motion is
in order. It is not debatable, and it requires a two-thirds vote to pass.

‘his motion is debatable, but requires
4 twu-LLLus voLe w o pass. 1 wie 0ody has its own rules of order,
conduct or procedure, this motion allows the body to suspend the
rules for a particular purpose. For example, the body (a private club)
might have a rule prohibiting the attendance at meetings by non-club
members, A motion to suspend the rules would be in order to allow
a non-club member to attend a meeting of the club on a particular
date or on a particular agenda item,

The matter of counting votes starts simple, but can become
complicated,

Usually, it’s pretty easy to determine whether a particular motion
passed or whether it was defeated, If a simple majority vote is needed
to pass a motion, then one vote more than 50 percent of the body is
required, For example, in a five-member hody, if the vote is three in
favor and two oppaosed, the motion passes, If it is two in favor and
three opposed, the motion is defeated.

If a two-thirds majority vote is needed to pass a motion, then how
many affirmative votes are required? The simple rule of thurnb is to
count the “no” votes and double that count to determine how many
“yes” votes are needed to pass a particular motion. For example, in

a seven-member body, if two members vote “no” then the “yes” vote
of at least four members is required to achieve a two-thirds majority
vote to pass the motion.

What about tie votes? In the event of a tie, the motion always fails since
an affirmative vote is required to pass any motion. For example, in a
five-member body, if the vote is two in favor and two opposed, with
one member absent, the motion is defeated.

Vote counting starts to become complicated when members
vote “abstain” or in the case of a written ballot, cast a blank (or
unreadable) ballot. Do these votes count, and if so, how does one
count them? The starting point is always to check the statutes.

In California, for example, for an action of a board of supervisors to
be valid and binding, the action must be approved by a majority of the
board. {California Government Code Section 25005.) Typically, this
means three of the five nembers of the board inust vote affirmatively
in favor of the action. A vote of 2-1 would not be sufficient. A vote of
3-0 with two abstentions would be sufficient. In general law cities in



California, as another example, resolutions or orders for the payment of
money and all ordinances require a recorded vote of the total members
of the city council. (California Government Code Section 36936.) Cities
with charters may prescribe their own vote requirements. Local elected
officials ave always well-advised to consult with their local agency
counsel on how state law may affect the vote count.

After consulting state statutes, step number two is to check the rules
of the body. If the rules of the body say that you count votes of “those
present” then you treat abstentions one way. However, if the rules of
the body say that you count the votes of those “present and voting,”
then you treat abstentions a different way. And if the rules of the
body are silent on the subject, then the general rule of thumb (and
default rule) is that you count all votes that are “present and voting”

Accordingly, under the “present and voting” system, you would NOT
count abstention votes on the motion, Members who abstain are
counted for purposes of determining quorum {they are “present”),
but you treat the abstention votes on the motion as if they did not
exist {they are not “voting”). On the other hand, if the rules of the
hody specifically say that you count votes of those “present” then you
DO count abstention votes both in establishing the quorum and on
the motion. In this event, the abstention votes act just like “no” votes.

Assume that a five-member city council is voting:  1mots  hat
requires a simple majority vote to pass, and assume further that the
body has no specific rule on counting votes. Accordingly, the default
rule kicks in and we count all votes of members that are “present and
voting.” If the vote on the motion is 3-2, the motion passes, If the

motion is 2-2 with one abstention, the motion fails,

Assume a five-membher city council voting on a motion that requires
a two-thirds majority vote to pass, and further assume that the body
has no specific rule on counting votes. Again, the default rule applies.
1f the vote is 3-2, the motion fails for lack of a two-thirds majority. If
the vote is 4-1, the motion passes with a clear two-thirds majority. A
vote of three “ves,” one “no” and one “abstain” also results in passage
of the motion. Once again, the abstention is counted ondy for the
purpose of determining quorurm, but on the actual vote on the
motion, it is as if the abstention vote never existed — so an effective
3-1 vote is clearly a two-thirds majority vote.

Now, change the scenario slightly. Assume the same five-member
city council voting on a motion that requires a two-thirds majority
vote to pass, but now assume that the body DOES have a specific rule
requiring a two-thirds vote of members “present.” Under this specific
rule, we must count the members present not only for quorum but
also for the motion. In this scenario, any abstention has the same
force and effect as if it were a “no” vote, Accordingly, if the votes were
three “yes,” one “no” and one “abstain,” then the motion fails. The
abstention in this case is treated like a “no” vote and effective vote of
3-2 is not enough to pass two-thirds majority muster.

Now, exactly how does a member cast an “abstention” vote?

Any time a member votes “abstain” or says, “T abstain,” that is an
abstention. However, if a member votes “present” that is also treated
as an abstention (the member is essentially saying, “Count me for
purposes of a quorun, but my vote on the issue is abstain.”) In fact,
any manifestation of intention not to vote either “yes” or “no” on
the pending motion may be treated by the chair as an abstention, If
written ballots are cast, a blank or unreadable ballot is counted as an
abstention as well.

Can a member vote “absent” or “count me as absent?” Interesting
question. The ruling on this is up to the chair. The better approach is
for the chair to count this as if the member had left histher chair and
is actually “absent.” That, of course, affects the quorum. However, the
chair may also treat this as a vote to abstain, particularly if the person
does not actually leave the dais,

There is a special and unique motion that requires a bit of
explanation all by itself; the motion to reconsider. A tenet of
parliamentary procedure is finality. After vigorous discussion, debate
and a vote, there must be some closure to the issue, And so, aftera
vote is taken, the matter is deemed closed, subject only to reopening
if a proper motion to consider is made and passed.

A motion to reconsider requires a majority vote to pass like other
garden-variety motions, but there are two special rules that apply
only to the motion to reconsider.

First, is the matter of timing. A motion to reconsider must be made
at the meeting where the item was first voted upon. A motion to
reconsider made at a later time is untimely. (The body, however, can
always vote to suspend the rules and, by a two-thirds majority, allow
a motion to reconsider to be made at another time.)

Second, a motion to reconsider may be made only by certain
members of the body. Accordingly, a motion to reconsider may be
made only by a member who voted in the majority on the original
motion. If such a member has a change of heart, he or she may
make the motion to reconsider {any other member of the body

— including a member who voted in the minority on the original
motion — may second the motion). If a member who voted in the
minority seeks to make the motion to reconsider, it must be ruled
out of order. The purpose of this rule is finality. If a member of
minority could make a motion to reconsider, then the item could be
brought back to the body again and again, which would defeat the
purpose of finality.

If the motion to reconsider passes, then the original atter is back
before the body, and a new original motion is in order. The matter may
be discussed and debated as if it were on the floor for the first time.



The rules of order are meant to create an atinosphere where the
members of the body and the members of the public can attend to
business efficiently, fairly and with full participation, At the same
time, it is up to the chair and the members of the body to maintain
common courtesy and decorum, Unless the setting is very informal,
it is always best for only one person at a time to have the floor, and
it is always best for every speaker to be first recognized by the chair
before proceeding to speak.

'The chair should always ensure that debate and discussion of an
agenda item focuses on the item and the policy in question, not the
personalities of the members of the body. Debate on policy is healthy,
debate on personalities is not. The chair has the right to cut off
discussion that is too personal, is too loud, or is too crude.

Debate and discussion should be focused, but free and open. In the
interest of time, the chair may, however, limit the time allotted to
speakers, including members of the body.

Can a member of the body interrupt the speaker? The general rule is
“no.” There are, however, exceptions. A speaker may be interrupted
for the following reasons: ’

“he proper interruption would be, “point of privilege.”
1ue wnan would then ask the interrupter to “state your point.”
Appropriate points of privilege relate to anything that would
interfere with the normal comfort of the meeting. For example, the
room may be too hot or too cold, or a blowing fan might interfere
with a person’s ability to hear.

Che proper interruption would be, “point of order.” Again,
the chair would ask the interrupter to “state your point.” Appropriate
points of order refate to anything that would not be considered
appropriate conduct of the meeting. For example, if the chair moved
on {o a vote on a motion that permits debate without allowing that
discussion or debate,

f the chair makes a ruling that a member of the hody
wagrees With, that member may appeal the ruling of the chair. If the
motion is seconded, and after debate, if it passes by a simple majority
vote, then the ruling of the chair is deemed reversed.

“his is simply another way of saying,
rewurn w e agenua, 1a member believes that the body has drifted
from the agreed-upon agenda, such a call may be made. It does not
require a vote, and when the chair discovers that the agenda has
not been followed, the chair simply reminds the hody to return to
the agenda item properly before them, If the chair fails to do so, the
chair’s deterinination nay be appealed.

Juring debate and discussion of a motion,
the maker of the motion on the floor, at any time, may interrupt a
speaker to withdraw his or her motion from the floor. The motion
is immediately deemed withdrawn, although the chair may ask the
person who seconded the motion if he or she wishes to make the
motion, and any other member may make the motion if properly
recognized.

‘I'he rules outlined above will help make meetings very public-
friendly. But in addition, and particularly for the chair, it is wise to
remember three special rules that apply to each agenda item:

[ the public what the bady will be doing.
ep the public informed while the body is doing it.

¥hen the body has acted, tell the public what the
Doty did,









ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The League thanks the following individuals for their work on this publication:

Brown Act Committee

Michael Jenkins, Committee Chair .
City Attorney, Hermaosa Beach, Rolling Hills and West Hollywood

Michael W. Barrett
City Attorney, Napa

Damien Brower
City Attorney, Brentwood

Ariel Pierre Calonne
City Attorney, Santa Barbara

Veronica Ramirez
Assistant City Attorney, Redwood City

Malathy Subramanian
City Attorney, Clayton and Lafayette

Paut Zarefsky
Deputy City Attorney, San Francisco

Gregory W. Stepanicich

1st Vice President, City Attorneys’ Departiment

City Attorney Fairfield, Mill Valiey, Town of Ross
League Staff

Patrick whitnell, General Counsel

Koreen Kelleher, Assistant General Counsel

Corrie Manning, Senior Deputy General Counsel

Alison Leary, Deputy General Counsel

lanet Leonard, Legal Assistant

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT







TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: IT IS THE PEOPLE'S BUSINESS ... 5
THE FIBNT OF ACCESS oottt eb e o et ca s e ensrens et b abab et skt na s 6
BFIOAO COVBIARE ....evveeeieieeetetesectresesteee st ee s s b s b s st st om e e s e nd s Ra e s s e s a e as s 6
INAFFOW BXEITIDEIONS L1iuveiererersrsrseesensrreereereeree st ere et baseae s e e s bs s s b st s b n b sr g nsan s e sansan e nb b b e 7
Public participation N MEEHHNES . ..ottt e bbbt nis 7
CONEPOVEISY (o erve e etee e eeeees et e e b b eaas e sae et s s e et se oS bbb st e st ee et et 8
Beyond the law — g00d busingss PractiCes....... i 8
AChIBVINE DAIANCE ..ottt e e e e 9
HISEOMCA] FIOTR vt et e ce s b et e a e b ra et ea e e e s erberesanem et e bd e bbb earsa b ans 9

CHAPTER 2: LEGISLATIVE BODIES ... s s senai o 11
what is a “legislative hody” of a 10Cal ZENCY? ..o 12
What is not a “legislative body” for purposes of the Brown ACt? ..., 14

CHAPTER 8 MEETHNG S .. i i ira s s cetest e s s irsanans 17
BIOWIN ACE IMEBTINES . cocvei oo e raem e s re bt e e e e e e bbb s ekt st 18
Six exceptions to the meeting defiNitioN ... 18
COMECHVE DIIETINES 1ooveiveriieie e reee et eeeee et e et s s st sn s b sas st s s e na e s nn b en e 21
Retreats or workshops of legislative BOGIES ..., 21
SO ITIBEETIES oo e et ettt st e e s s s b b s d s be e e e b s 21
INFOrMal BANEIINES ..ot e e 24
Technological CONFEFENCING .o .ot e e e 24
LOCALION OF MEEBLINES.......oeive et ecer e s st n e bt e e e 25

CHAPTER 4: AGENDAS, NOTICES, AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ...... 25
Agendas for regUIAE IMEBELINES ... i 30
Mailed agenda Upon WITHEN FEQUEST. ...ttt e e s 31
Notice requirements for special MeetiNES ... 32

Notices and agendas for adjourned and continued meetings and hearings ..............c.c.e.... 32

Notice requirements for emergency MEEHINES .. s 32
Notice of compensation for simuttaneous or serial MeetiNgs . 33
Educational ABENCY MEETINES ..o e ere st n b ens e s rs e n e 33
Notice requirements for tax or assessment meetings and heariNgS.....oovcvewve i 33

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M., BROWN ACT




NOM-BEENAA TEBIMS .ottt 34

Responding tO the PUBIC ..ot e 34
The right to attend and Ohserve MEBtiNGS ..ot e 35
ReCOrds and FECOTAINES .ocuiericiirre et sttt st e e as s 36
The public’s place on the BEENTA .......occoveerer e s 37
CHAPFTER 5: CLOSED SESSIONS . i e 41
AZENAAS AN FBPOMS oot et e e et ee s et se st et e et en s e s ae s s 42
[T == 100 2 O OO OO SO PO PRI OTUTP 43
Real estate negotiations
PURNC @MPIOYIMIENE oottt b b e e rn e rr e rae s e s e e e s esansesrnas
Labor NEGOLIAIONS ..o.ve ettt s e et a e bt 47

Labor negotiations - schook and community college districts ......ccocvncnivinnn 48
Other Education Code eXCEPHIONS ...veieeieece ettt e s s e s 48
JOINt POWENS AUNOMHIES ...ttt s n s s sns s sen e e sanans B8
License applicants with criminal FECOIAS oo oo i s 49
PUDIC SBOLITEY cvvvteversve ettt e e ce e ens et bemt s sesns s seeesnssresesrmssnssenresnsnenssassnssnnsnes 19
Multijurisdictional law enforcement BEENLY ..o vreereriiiess st sensrscnssesssneens 49
Hospital peer review and trade SECTeS ... 49
Other legislative bases for Closad SESSI0N. ..o DO

Who may atfend ClOSed SBESIONS ..ottt oo e 50
The confidentiality of closed SesSIoN diSCUSSIONS ...veariei ettt 50
CHAPTER B: REINIEDIES ..t irii i iasis iisiaii s s isar s sasan v et naans 55

TRT 2= T E= 1 o O OSSO OSSP

Applicability to Past Actions
Civil action to prevent future violations
COStS and AtTOINEY'S TRES ...eoei et st sas st D8
CHIMINA] COMPEAINES <ottt serses resse e s es s aa e e e e s se e s eesem e eses e rmesb i b nd s s b st s e 58
VOIUNEALY TESOILION 1.vovre e ettt em e et ee e et st as bbb e e e et s e 59

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 3




OPEN 8 PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALFH M. BROWN ACT










discusses, deliberates or takes action on an item of business outside of a noticed meeting. They
include meetings held from remote focations by teleconference.

New communication technologies present new Brown Act challenges, For example, common emait
practices of forwarding or replying to messages can easily lead to a serial meeting prohibited

hy the Brown Act, as can participation by members of a legislative body in an internet chatroom

or blog dialogue. Communicating during meetings using etectronic technology (such as laptop
computers, tablets, or smart phones) may create the perception that private communications are
influencing the outcome of decisions; some state legislatures have banned the practice. 0n the
other hand, widespread cabiecasting and web streaming of meetings has greatly expanded pubtic
access to the decision-making process.

Narrow exemptions

The express purpose of the Brown Act is to assure that |ocal government agencies conduct the
public’s business openly and publicly. Courts and the Caiifornia Attorney Generat usually broadly
construe the Brown Act in favor of greater public access and narrowly construe exemptions to its
general rules.*

Generally, public officials should think of themselves as living in glass houses, and that they may
only draw the curtains when it is in the public interest to preserve confidentiality. Closed sessions
may be held only as specifically authorized by the provisions of the Brown Act itseif.

The Brown Act, however, is limited to meetings among a majority of the members of multi-
member government bodies when the subject relates to local agency business. It does not apply
to independent conduct of individual decision-makers. it does not apply to social, ceremanial,
educational, and other gatherings as long as a majority of the members of a body do not discuss
issues related to their local agency’s business, Meetings of temporary advisory committees — as
distinguished from standing committees — made up solely of less than a quorum of a legislative
body are not subject to the Brown Act,

The law does not apply to [ocal agency staff or employees, but they may facilitate a violation by
acting as a conduit for discussion, deliberation, or action by the legislative body.®

The taw, on the one hand, recognizes the need of individual Jocal officials to meet and discuss
matters with their constituents. On the other hand, it requires — with certain specific exceptions
to protect the community and preserve individual rights — that the decision-making process be
public, Sometimes the houndary between the two is not easy to draw.

Public participation in meetings

In addition to requiring the public's business to be conducted in open, noticed meetings, the
Brown Act also extends to the public the right to participate in meetings. Individuals, lobbyists,
and members of the news media possess the right to attend, record, hroadcast, and patticipate
in public meetings. The public's participation is further enhanced by the Brown Act’s requirement
that a meaningful agenda be posted in advance of meetings, by limiting discussion and action to
matters listed on the agenda, and by requiring that meeting materials be made avaitahle.

Legislative bodies may, however, adopt reasonable regulations on public testimony and the conduct
of public meetings, inciuding measures to address disruptive conduct and irrelevant speech.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT

PRACTICE TIP: Think of the
government's house as heing
made of glass. The curtains may
be drawn oniy to further the
public’s interest. A local policy
on the use of laptop computers,
tablets, and smart phones during
Brown Act meetings may help
avoid problems.







An explicit and comprehensive public meeting and information policy, especially if reviewed
periodically, can he an impartant element in maintaining or improving public relations. Such

a policy exceeds the absolute requirements of the law — but if the Jaw were enough, this

guide would be unnecessary. A narrow legalistic approach wilt not avaid ar resolve potential
confroversies. An agency should consider going beyond the law, and look at its unique
circumstances and determine if there is a better way to prevent potential problems and promote
pubtic trust. At the very least, local agencies need to think about how their agendas are structured
in order to make Brown Act compliance easier. They need to plan carefully to make sure public
participation fits smoothly into the process.

Achieving balance

The Brown Act should be neither an excuse for hiding the ball nor a mechanism for hindering
efficient and orderly meetings. The Brown Act represents a bafance among the interests of
constituencies whose interests do not always coincide. It calls for openness in local government,
yet should allow government to function responsively and productively.

There tmust be hoth adeguate notice of what discussion and action is to occur during a meeting
as wefl as a normal degree of spontaneity in‘the diatogue between elected officials and their
constituents.

The ability of an elected official to confer with constituents or colleagues must be balanced against
the important public policy prohibiting decision-making outside of public meetings.

In the end, implementation of the Brown Act must ensure full participation of the public and
preserve the integrity of the decision-making process, yet not stifle government officials and
impede the effective and natural operation of government.

Historical note

In late 1951, San Francisco Chronicle reporter Mike Harris spent six weeks looking info the way
local agencies conducted meetings. State law had long required that business be done in public,
but Harris discovered secret meetings or caucuses were common, He wrote a 10-part series on
"Your Secret Government” that ran in May and June 1952.

Out of the series came a decision to push for a new state open meeting law. Harris and Richard
(Bud} Carpenter, tegal counsel for the League of California Cities, drafted such a bill and Assembly
Member Ralph M. Brown agreed to carry it. The Legislature passed the bill and Governor Earl
Warren signed it into law in 1953.

The Ralph M. Brown Act, known as the Brown Act, has evolved under a series of amendments and
court decisions, and has been the model for other open meeting laws — such as the Bagley-Keene
ACt, enacted in 1967 to cover state agencies.

Assembly Member Brown is best known for the open meeting law that carries his name. He was
elected to the Assembly In 1942 and served 19 years, including the last three years as Speaker. He
then became an appeliate court justice.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT

PRACTICE TiP: The Brown Act
should be viewed as a tool

to facilitate the business of
local government agencies.
Local policies that go beyond
the minimum regquirements

of law may help instiil public
confidence and avoid problems.




10

ENDNOTES:

I
2
3

6

California Government Code section 54950
California Constitution, Art. I, section 3(b)(1)
California Government Code section 54953 (a)

This principle of broad construction when it furthers public access and narrow construction if a
provision limits public access is also stated in the amendment to the State’s Constitution adopted by
Proposition 59 in 2004. California Censtitution, Art. I, section 3(b)(2).

California Government Code section 54952.2(b)(2} and (c)(1); Walfe v. City of Fremont (2000) 144
Cal.App.4th 533

California Government Code section 54953,7

Updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown Act of new court interpretations
are available at wnavv.cacities.org/opengovernment. A current version of the Brown Act may be
found at wwwleginfo.ca.gov.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT










Brown Act. In one reported case, a ciy council created a committee of two members of
the city councit and two members of the city planning commission to review qualifications
of prospective planning commissioners and make recommendations to the council. The
court held that their joint mission made them a legistative body subject to the Brown Act.
Had the two committees remained separate; and met only to exchange information and
report back to their respective boards, they would have been exempt from the Brown Act.®

Standing committees of a fegislative body, irrespective of their composition, which

have either: {1) a continuing subject matter jurisdiction; or (2) a meeting schedule fixed by
charter, ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body.? Even if it comprises
less than a quorum of the governing hody, a standing committee is subject to the Brown
Act. For example, if a governing body creates long-term committees on hudget and finance
or on public safety, those are standing committees subject to the Brown Act. Further,
according to the California Attorney General, function over farm controls. For example,

a statement by the legislative body that the advisory committee “shall not exercise
continuing subject matter jurisdiction” or the fact that the committee does not have a fixed
meeting schedule is not determinative.® "Formal action” by a legislative body includes
authorization given to the agency's executive officer to appoint an advisory commitiee
pursuant to agency-adopted policy.”

The governing body of any private organization either: {1) Created by the legislative
body in arder to exercise authority that may lawfully be delegated by such body to a
private corporation, fimited liabitity company or other entity; or (2) that recelves agency
funding and whose governing board includes a member of the legislative body of the local
agency appointed by the legislative body as a full voting member of the private entity's
governing board,* These include some nonprofit corporations created by local agencies.®
If a local agency contracts with a private firm for a service (for example, payroll, janitorial,
or food services), the private firm is not covered by the Brown Act,™ When a member of

a legislative body sits on a hoard of a private organization as a private person and is not
appointed by the tegislative hody, the board will not be subject to the Brown Act. Similarly,
when the legistative body appoints someone other than one of its own members o such
boards, the Brown Act does not apply. Nor does it apply when a private organization merely
receives agency funding.™

@: The local chamber of commerce is funded in part by the city. The mayor sits on the
~ - chamber's hoard of dlrectors ls the chamber board a Iegrslatwe body sub;ect to
-the Brown Act?. - - .

Al Maybe i the chambers governrng documents requrre the mayor to be oh the
" board and the city council appoints the mayor to that position, the board js a
“legisiative body if, however, the chamber board independently appoints the mayor -
-to its board, or the mayor attends cham.ber boargd meetmgs ina pureiy adwsory
capacrty, it IS not.. N

Q. Ifa communlty col!ege d|str|ct board creates an auxrliary orgamzatron to operate a
' -campus bookstore or cafeteraa is the board of the orgamzatron a Ieglsiatrve bodw -

A Yes But n‘ the drstnct mstead contracts wrth 4 private ﬂrm to operate the
- -D.ook_erore or caz_‘e_reria the Brown Act would not apply to the private firm. -

Certain types of hospital operators. A lessee of a hospital {or portion of a hospital)

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALFH M. BROWN ACT

PRACTICE TIP: it can be

difficult to determine whether

a subcommittee of a body falls
into the category of a standing
committee Or an exempt
temporary committee. Suppose a
committee is created to explore
the renewal of a franchise ot a
topic of similarly limited scope
and duration. Is it an exempt
temporary committee ar a hon-
exempt standing committee? The
answer may depend on factors
such as how meeting schedules
are determined, the scope of the
committee’s charge, or whether
the committee exists long enough
to have “continuing jurisdiction.”

13




first leased under Health and Safety Code subsection 32121(p) after January 1, 1994, which
exercises "material authority” delegated to it by a local agency, whether or nat such lessee
Is organized and operated by the agency or by a delegated authority.™

What is not a “legislative body” for purposes of the Brown Act?

A temporary advisory committee composed solely of tess than a quorum of the
legislative hody that serves a limited or single purpose, that is not perpetual, and that
will be dissolved once its specific task is completed is not subject to the Brown Act.”
Temporary committees are sometimes called ad hoc committees, a term not used in the
Brown Act. Examples include an advisory committee composed of less than a quorum
created to interview candidates for a vacant position of to meet with representatives of
other entities to exchange information on a matter of concern to the agency, such as traffic
congestion.’®

& Groups advisory to a single decision-maker or appointed by staff are not covered. The
Brown Act applies only to committees created by format action of the legisiative body and
hot to committees created by others. A committee advising a superintendent of schools
would not he covered by the Brown Act. However, the same committee, if created by
formal action of the school board, would he covered.™

Q A member of the Ieglsiatwe body of a ioca] agency mformaEIy establlshes an _' S
s :advzsory committee of five residents to advise her on issues as they arise. Does .
-."the Brown Act apply to thls commrttee? - : e

A NO because the commrttee has not been estabhshed by forma} acnon of the
. ;!egrstaaue body. - A

Q. .Durlng a meetmg of the c1ty councrl the councll directs the mty manager 10 form o
- -an advisary committee of residents to develop recommendations for a new
_ordinance. The city manager forms the committee and appoints its members; the -
: : ﬁcommittee is instructed to direct its recommendations to the ctty manager Does :
_the Brown Actapply to thls comm|ttee? A S

A, Possrbly, because the o‘:rectron from the city council might be regarded asa formal .
“‘action of the body natwithstanding that the city manager controls the committee.

B Individual decision makers who are not elected or appointed members of a legislative body
are not covered hy the Brown Act. For example, a disciplinary hearing presided over by a
department head or a meeting of agency department heads are not subject to the Brown
Act since such assemblies are not those of a legislative body

E Public employees, each acting individually and not engaging in collective deliberation
oh a specific issue, such as the drafting and review of an agreement, do not constitute
a legislative body under the Brown Act, even if the drafting and review process was
established by a legislative body.>!

County central committees of political parties are also not Brown Act hodies.2?

ENMDNOTES:
b Taxpayers for Livable Communities v. City of Malibu (2005) 126 Cal. App.4th 1123, 1127

QPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT



10
11
12

13

14

15

16
17

18
19
20
21
22

California Government Code section 54952(a) and (b)

California Government Code section 54951; Health and Safety Code section 34173{g) {successor
agencies to former redevelopment agencies subject to the Brown Act}. But see Education Code section
35147, which exempts certain school councils and school site advisory commiitees from the Brown
Act and imposes upon them a separate set of rules.

Torres v. Board of Commissioners of Housing Authority of Tulgre Courntty (1979} 89 Cal.App.3d 545, 549-
550

71 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 96 (1988); 73 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 1 {1990)

McKee v. Los Angeles Interagency Metropolitan Police Apprehension Crime Task Force (2005) 134 Cal.
App.4th 354, 362

California Government Code section 54952.1

Joiner v. City of Sebastopol (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 799, 804-805
California Government Code section 54952(b)

79 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen, 69 (1996)

Frazer v. Dixon Unified School District (1993) 18 Cal. App.4th 781,793

California Government Code section 54952(c}(1). Regarding private organizations that receive
local agency funding, the same rule applies to a full voting member appointed prior to February 9,
1996 who, after that date, is made a non-voting board member by the legislative body. California
Government Code section 54952{c}(2}

California Government Code section 54952(c)}{(1)(A); International Longshoremen’s and
Warehousemen’s Union v, Los Angeles Export Terminal, Inc. (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 300; Epstein
v. Hollywood Entertainment Dist. IT Business Improvement District (2001) 87 Cal. App.4th 862, 876;
see also 85 Ops.Cal Atty.Gen. 53 (2002)

International Longshoremen’s and Warehousemen’s Union v. Los Angeles Export Terminal (1999) 69 Cal.
App.4th 287, 300 f, 5

“The Brown Act, Open Meetings for Local Legislative Bodies” California Attorney General's Office
(2003),p. 7

California Government Code section 54952(d}

California Government Code section 54952(b); see also Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. Orange County
Employees Retirement System Board of Directors (1993) 6 Cal.4th 821, 832.

Taxpayers for Livable Communities v. Gity of Malibu (2005) 126 Cal. App.4th 1123, 1129
56 Ops.Cal Atty.Gen. 14, 16-17 (1973)

Wilson v, San Francisco Municipal Railway (1973) 29 Cal.App.3d 870, 878-87%
Golightly v. Molina (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1501, 1513

59 Ops.Cal. Alty.Gen. 162, 164 (1976)

Updates o this publication responding to changes in the Brown Act or new court interpretations
are availahle at www.cacities.org/opengovernment. A current version of the Brown Act may be
found at wwvw.leginfo.ca.gov.

OPEN 8 PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT

15




16

OPEN 8 PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TQO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT






















a violation. The board member may have violated the Brown Act by hearing about the
positions of other board members and indeed coaxing the labbyist to reveal the other
board members’ positions by asking “You sure you need my vote? " The prtdent course is
to avoid such leading conversations and fo caution lobhbyisis, staff, and news media against
revealing such positions of others.

The mayor sat down across from the city manager. "From now on,” he
declared, 1 want you to provide individuat briefings on upcoming agenda

items. Some of this material is very technical, and the council members don’t :
want to sound like idiots asking about it in public. Besides that, briefings will PRACTICE TIP: When briefing

speed up the meeting.” legislative body members,
staff must exercise care not to

disclose other members’ views
and positions.

Agency employees or officials may have separate conversations or communications
outside of an open and noticed meeting “with members of a legisiative body in order fo
answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that is within the subject

matter jurisdiction of the local agency If that person doeas not communicate to members
of the legisfative body the comments or pasition of any other member or members of
the legislative body.”'s Members should always be vigilant when discussing local agency
business with anyone to avaid conversations that collld lead fo a discussion, deliberation
or action taken among the majority of the tegfsjative body. o

“Thanks for the information,” said Council Member Kim. “These zoning changes
can be tricky, and now I think I'm better equipped to make the right decision.”

“Glad to be of assistance,” replied the planning director. “I'm sure Council
Member Jones is OK with these changes. How are you leaning?”

"Well,” said Council Member Kim, “I'm leaning toward approval. 1 know that two
of my colleagues definitely favor approval.”

The planning director showld not disclose Jones’ prospective voie, and Kim should not
disclose the prospective votes of two of her colleagues. Under these facts, there likely has
been a serial meeting in violation of the Brown Act,

Q. The agency's: websrte includes a chat room where agency emp]oyees and ofﬂclals c
partlcnpate anonymously and often discuss issues of locat agency business. Members
. -of the legislative body participate regulariy Does this scenarlo present a potentlai for_ e
Violation of the BrOWn Act? ' . : -

A, Yes because itisa technolog:cal dewce that may serve to ah'ow fora majonty or’ o
“iembers to d.'scuss dehberate or take act.'on an matters of agency busmess '

Q. A member of a legislative body contacts two other members on a five- member body' 2
B re!atNe to schedulmg a special meetmg Is thIS an 1!Iegai serlal meetrng7 e

A No the BrOWn Act expressly al!ows a majonty of a body to cah' a specraf meetmg, BN
though the. members should avord drscussmg the ments of what s to be taken up at '_ o
~.the meetmg R

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 23













Endnotes:
California Government Code section 54952.2(a)

Wilson v. San Francisco Municipal Railway (1973) 29 Cal.App.3d 870

—

California Government Code section 54954(a)

California Government Code section 54956

California Government Code section 54956.5

California Government Code section 54955
California Government Code section 54952.2(c)

California Government Code section 54952.2{c}{4}

o N Sy W s e b

California Government Code section 54952.2{c}{(6}

California Government Code section 54953.1

—_ =
=]

“The Brown Act,” California Attorney General (2003), p. 10
California Government Code section 54952.2{b){1)

_
W N

Stockton Newspaper Inc, v. Redevelopment Agency (1985} 171 Cal.App.3d 95
California Government Code section 54952,2{>){2)

Common Cause v. Stirling (1983) 147 Cal. App.3d 518

Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363

—_ =
[ ¥

California Government Code section 54957.5(a}

—
~I

California Government Code section 54952.2{b}{2)

—_
N = ]

California Government Code section 54952.2; 43 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 36 (1964)
California Government Code section 54953(b)(1}

[and
o]

California Government Code section 54953(b)(4}

(=]
—

California Government Code section 54953

(oS R ]
[ R W]

California Government Code section 54954(b)
California Government Code section 54954(b)(1}-(7)
94 Ops.Cal Atty.Gen. 15 (2011)

[ ]
(2 BTN

California Government Code section 54954(c)

[N e ]
-

California Government Code section 54954(d}
28 California Government Code section 54954(e)
Updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown Act or new court interpretations

are avaitable at www.cacitles.org/opengoverniment. A current version of the Brown Act may be
found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 27




28

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M, BROWN ACT


































11 California Government Code section 54954.1

12 California Government Code sections 54956(a) and (c)

13 California Government Code section 54955

14 California Government Code section 54954.2(b}(3}

15 California Government Code section 54955.1

16 California Government Code section 54956.5

17 California Government Code section 54952.3

18 FEducation Code'sections 35144, 35145 and 72129

19 Carlson v. Paradise Unified School District (1971) 18 Cal. App.3d 196
20 California Education Code section 35145.5

21 California Government Code section 54954.6

22 See Cal.Const.Art. XIHC, XIID and California Government Code section 54954.6(h}
23 California Government Code section 54954,2{D}

24 California Government Code section 54954.2(a)(2)

25 California Government Code section 54953.3

26 California Government Code section 54961(a); California Government Code section 11135(a)
27 California Government Code sectﬁon 54952.2(c){2)

28 California Gc;vernment Code section 54953{b)

29 California Government Code section 54953{c}

30 California Government Code sectim} 54953(c)(2)

31 California Government Code sectioh 54957.9.

32 Norsev. City of Santa Cruz (9th Cir, 2010) 629 F.3d 966 (silent and momentary Nazi salute directed
towards mayor is not a disruption); Acosta v. City of Costa Mesa (9th Cir. 2013) 718 F.3d 800 (city
councd may not prohibit “insolent” remarks by members of the public absent actual disruption).

33 California Government Code section 54957.9

34 California Government Code section 54957.5

35 California Government Code section 54957.5(d)
36 California Government Code section 54957.5(b)
37 California Government Code section 54957,5(c)
38 California Government Code section 54953.5(b)
39 (alifornia Government Code section 54957.5(d)
40 California Government Code section 54953.5(a)
41 California Government Code section 54953.6

42 California Government Code section 54954.3(a)
43 California Government Code section 54954.3(c)

44 California Government Code section 54954.3(b); Chaffee v. San Francisco Public Library Com. (2005)
134 Cal. App.4th 109; 75 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen, 89 (1992)

45 California Government Code section 54954.3(a)
46 California Government Code section 54954.3(a)
Updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown Act or new court interpretations

are available at wwwcacities,org/opengovernment. A current version of the Brown Act may be
found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT




a0

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M, BROWN ACT










agenda descriptions cover license and permit determinatians, real property negotiations, existing
or anticipated fitigation, fiability claims, threats to security, public employee appointments,
evaluations and discipling, labor negotiations, multi-jurisdictional faw enfarcement cases, hospital
boards of directors, medical quality assurance committees, joint powers agencies, and audits by
the californja State Auditor's Office.”

if the legislative body intends to convene in closed session, it must include the section of the
Brown Act authorizing the closed session in advance on the agenda and it must make a public
announcement prior to the closed session discussion. In most cases, the announcement may
simply be a reference to the agenda item.®

Following a closed session, the legisfative body must provide an oral or written report oh certain
actions taken and the vote of every elected member present. The timing and content of the report
varies according to the reason for the closed session and the action taken.? The announcements
may be made at the site of the closed session, so long as the public is allowed to be present to
hear them.

If there is a standing or written request for documentation, any copies of contracts, settlement
agreements, or other documents finally approved or adopted in closed session must be provided
to the requestor(s) after the closed session, if final approval of such documents does not rest

with any other party to the contract or settlement. If substantive amendments to a contract or
settlement agreement approved by all parties requires retyping, such documents may be hetd until
retyping is completed during normal business hours, but the substance of the changes must be
summatized for any person inquiring about them,

‘.

The Brown Act does not require minutes, including minutes of closed sessions. Howevef, a
legislative body may adopt an ordinance or resolution to authorize a confidential “minute book™

be kept to record actions taken at closed sessions. If one is kept, it must be made avallahle

to members of the legislative body, provided that the member asking to review minutes of a
particular meeting was not disgualified from attending the meeting due to a conflict of interast.™ A
court may order the disclosure of minute books for the court’s review if a lawsuit makes sufficient
claims of an open meeting violation.

Litigation

There is an attorney/client relationship, and legal counsel may use it to protect the confidentiality
of privileged written and oral communications to members of the legislative body — outside of
meetings. But protection of the attorney/client privilege cannot by itself be the reason for a closed
session.™

The Brown Act expressly authorizes closed sessions to discuss what is considered pending
fitigation. The rules that apply to holding a litigation closed session involve complex, technical
definitions and procedures. The essential thing to know is that a closed session can be held by
the body to confer with, or receive advice from, its legal counsel when open discussion would
prejudice the position of the local agency in litigation in which the agency is, or could become, a
party.™ The litigation exception under the Brown Act is narrowly construed and does not permit
activities beyond a tegislative body's conferring with its own legal counsel and required support
staff.*s For example, it is not permissible to hold a closed session in which settlement negotiations
take place between a legislative body, a representative of an adverse party, and a mediator.'

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT

PRACTICE TIP: Pay close
attention to closed session
agenda descriptions. Using
the wrong label can lead

to invalidation of an action
taken in closed session if not
substantially compliant,

43










PRACTICE TIP: Discussions of
who to appoint to an advisory
body and whether or not to
censure a fellow member of
the legislative body must be
held in the open.

46

Public employment

The Brown Act authorizes a closed session “to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation
of performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or charges
brought against the employee.”? The purpose of this exception — commonly referred to as

the “personnel exception” — is to avoid undue publicity or embarrassment for an employee or
applicant for employment and to alfow full and candid discussion by the legislative body; thus,

it is restricted to discussing individuals, not general personnei policies.” The body must possess
the power to appoint, evaluate, or dismiss the employee to hold a closed session under this
exception.? That authority may be delegated to a subsidiary appointed body.*

An employee must be given at least 24 hours notice of any closed session convened to hear
specific complaints or charges against him or her, This occurs when the legislative body is
reviewing evidence, which could include live testimany, and adjudicating conflicting testimony
offered as evidence. A legislative body may examine {or exclude) witnesses,®' and the California
Attorney General has opined that, when an affected employee and advocate have an official or
essential role to play, they may be permitted to participate in the closed session.’? The employee
has the right to have the specific complaints and charges discussed in a public session rathet than
closed session.® If the employee is not given the 24-hour prior hatice, any disciplinary action is null
and void.

However, an employee is not entitled to notice and a hearing where the purpose of the closed
session is to consider a performance evaluation. The Attorney General and the courts have
determined that personnel performance evaluations do not constitute complaints and charges,
which are more akin to accusations made against a person.

Q Must 24 hours notice be given fo an employee whose negatwe performance evaluation is '
to be considered by the Ieg:slative body in closed sessmm Jal 2

A. No, the notice is reserved for s:tuattons where the body is to hear comptamts and char;ges
from witnesses. - ' :

Correct labeling of the closed session on the agenda is critical. A closed session agenda that
identified discussion of an employment contract was not sufficient to allow dismissal of an
employee.® An incorrect agenda description can result in invalidation of an action and much
embarrassment.

For purposes of the personnel exception, "employee” specifically includes an officer or an
independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee. Examples of the former
include a city manager, district general manager or superintendent. Examples of the latter inciude
a legal counsel or engineer hired on contract to act as local agency attorney or chief engineer.

Elected officials, appointees to the governing body or subsidiary bodies, and independent
contractors other than those discussed above are not employees for purposes of the personnel
exception.¥ Action on individuals wha are not "employees” must also be public — including
discussing and voting on appointees to committees, or debating the merits of independent
contractors, or considering a complaint against a member of the legislative body itseff.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALFH M. BROWN ACT
















Before adoption of the Brown Act pravision specifically prohibiting disclosure of closed session
communications, agency attorneys and the Attorney General fong opined that officials have a
fiduciary duty to protect the confidentiality of closed session discussicns. The Attorney General
issued an opinion that it Is “improper” for officials to disclose infarmation received during a closed
session regarding pending litigation,®” though the Attorney General has also concluded that a local
agency is preempted from adopting an ordinance criminalizing puhlic disclosure of closed session
discussians.® in any event, in 2002, the Brown Act was amended (o prescribe particular remedies
for breaches of confidentiality. These remedies include injunctive relief; and, if the breach is a
willful disclosure of confidential information, the remedies include disciplinary action against an
employee, and referrat of a member of the legistative body to the grand jury.s®

The duty of maintaining confidentiality, of course, must give way to the responsibility to disclose
improper matters or discussions that may come up in closed sessions. In recoghition of this
public policy, under the Brown Act, a local agency may not penalize a disclosure of information
learned during a closed session if the disclosure; 1y is made in confidence to the district attorney
or the grand jury due to a perceived violation of law; 2) is an expression of opinion concerning
the propriety or legality of actions taken in closed session, Including disclosure of the nature and
extent of the illegal action; or 3) is information that is not confidential.”

The interplay between these possible sanctions and an official’s first amendment rights is
complex and beyond the scope of this guide. Suffice it to say that this is a matter of great
sensitivity and controversy.

“I want the press to know that 1 voted in closed session against filing the
eminent domain action,” said Council Member Chang.

"Don't settle too soon,” reveals Council Memher Watson to the property owner,
over coffee, “The city’s offer coming your way is not our bottom line.”

The first cormment to the press may be appropriate if it is a part of an action taken
by the City Council in closed session that must be reported publicly.” The second
comment to the property owner is not — disciosure of confidential information
acquired in closed session is exprassly prohibited and harmiul to ihe agency.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT

PRACTICE TIP: There is a
strong interest in protecting the
confidentiality of proper and
tawful closed sessions.

51




52

ENDMNOTES:

1
Z

L= =R O ~ A L

11
12
13
14

i5
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24
25
26
27
28

29

30

California Government Code section 54962
California Constitution, Art. 1, section 3

61 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 220 (1978); but see California Government Code section 54957.8
{multijurisdictional law enforcement agencies are authorized to meet in closed session to discuss the
case records of ongoing criminal investigations, and other related matters).

California Government Code section 54957.1

California Government Code section 54954.5

California Government Code section 54954.2

California Government Code section 54954.5

California Government Code sections 54956.9 and 54957.7

California Government Code section 54957.1(a)

California Government Code section 54957.1(b)

California Government Code section 54957.2

Hamilton v. Town of Los Gates (1989) 213 Cal. App.3d 1050; 2 Cal.Code Regs. section 18707
Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363

California Government Code section 54956.9; Shapito v. Board of Directors of Center City Development
Corp. (2005) 134 Cal. App.4th 170 (agency must be a party to the litigation).

82 Ops.Cal Atty.Gen. 29 (1999)

Page v. Miracosta Cormmunity College District (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 471

“The Brown Act,” California Attorney General (2003), p. 40

California Government Code section 54956.9(g) r

Trancas Property Owners Association v. City of Malibu (2006} 138 Cal. App.4th 172
Government Code section 54956.9(e)

California Government Code section 54957.1

California Government Code section 54956.8

Shapira v. San Diego City Cotncil (2002) 96 Cal. App.4th 904; see also 93 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 51 (2010)
(redevelopment agency may not convene a closed session to discuss rehabilitation loan for a property
already subleased to a loan recipient, even if the loan Incorporates some of the sublease terms and
includes an operating covenant governing the property); 94 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 82 (2011) (real estate
closed session may address form, manner and timing of consideration and other items that cannot be
disclosed without revealing price and terms).

73 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 1 (1990}

California Government Code sections 54956.8 and 54954.5(b)
California Government Code section 54957.1{a)(1)

California Government Code section 54957(b)

63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 153 (1980); but see Duvall v. Board of Trustees (2000) 93 Cal.App.4th 902 (board
may discuss personnel evaluation criteria, process and other preliminary matters in closed session but
only if related to the evaluation of a particular employee).

Gillespie v. San Francisco Public Library Commissions (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1165; 85 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen,
77 (2002)

Gillespie v. San Francisco Public Library Commission (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1165; 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.
Gen. 308 {1997). Interviews of candidates to fill a vacant staff position conducted by a temporary
committee appointed by the governing body may be done in closed session.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GWDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT




31
32
33
34

35

36
37
38
39
40
41

42
43
44
45
46
47

48
49
50
51
52
53

54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
a3

California Government Code section 54957(b)(3)
88 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 16 {2005}
Morrison v. Housing Authority of the City of Los Angeles (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 860

California Government Code section 54957(b); but see Bollinger v, San Diego Civil Service Commission
(1999) 71 Cal. App.4th 568 {notice not required for closed session deliberations regarding complaints
or charges, when there was a public evidentiary hearing prior to closed session).

78 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 218 {(1995); Bell v. Vista Unified School District (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 672;
Furtade v. Sierra Community College (1998) 68 Cal. App.4th 876; Fischer v. Los Angeles Unified School
District (1999) 70 Cal. App.4th 87

Moreno v. City of King (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 17

California Government Code section 54957

Gillespie v, San Francisco Public Library Conmission (1998) 67 Cal. App.4th 1165
California Government Code section 54957.1(a)(5)

California Government Code section 54957.6

California Government Code section 54957.6(Db); see also 98 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen, 41 {(2015) (a

project labor agreement between a community college district and workers hired by contractos or
subcontractors is not a proper subject of closed session for labor negotiations because the workers are
not “employees” of the district).

California Government Code section 54957.6; and 51 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 201 (1968)
California Government Code section 54957.1{a}(6)

California Government Code section 3549.1

California Government Code section 3540

California Government Code section 3547

California Education Code section 48918; but see Rim of the World Unified School District v. Superior
Court (2003) 104 Cal. App.4th 1393 (Section 48918 preempted by the Federal Family Educational
Right and Privacy Act in regard to expulsion proceedings).

California Education Code section 72122
California Education Code section 60617
California Government Code section 54956.96
California Government Code section 54956.7
California Government Code section 54957

McKee v. Los Angeles Interagency Metropolitan Police Apprehension Crime Task Force (2005) 134 Cal.
App.4th 354

California Government Code section 54957.8
California Government Code section 54962
California Health and Safety Code section 32106
California Government Code section 54956.75
California Government Code section 54956.81
California Government Code section 54956.86
California Government Code section 54956.87
California Governmeni Code section 54956.95
46 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen, 34 (1965)

82 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen. 29 (1999)

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT

53




54

64
65

66
67
68
69
70
71

Government Code section 54963

Kleitman v. Superior Court (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 324, 327; see also California Government Code
section 54963,

Roberis v, City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363
80 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen, 231 (1997)

76 Ops.CabL Atty.Gen. 289 (1993)

California Government Code section 54963
California Government Code section 54963

California Government Code section 54957.1

Updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown Act or hew court interpretations
are available at www.cacities.org/opengovernment. A current version of the Brown Act may be
found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GUIDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWNM ACT



















60

10
11
12
I3
14
15
16

7
18

19
20

21
22
23
24
25

26

Government Code Section 54960.2{a)(4)
Government Code Section 54960.2(c)(2}
Government Code Section 54960.,2(c){1)
Government Code Section 54960.2(c)(3)
Government Code Section 54960,2(d)
Government Code Section 54960.2(e)

California Alliance for Urility Safety and Education (CAUSE) v, City of San Diego (1997) 56 Cal. App.4th
1024; Common Cause v. Stirling (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 518, 524; Accord Shapiro v. San Diego City
Council (2002) 96 Cal, App. 4th 904, 916 & .6

Kleitman v. Superior Court (1999) 74 Cal. App.4th 324, 334-36

Los Angeles Times Communications, LLC v, Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors (2003) 112 Cal,
App.4th 1313, 1327-29 and cases cited therein

California Government Code section 54960.5

California Government Code section 54959. A misderneanor is punishable by a fine of up to $1,000
or up to six months in county jail, or both. California Penal Code section 19. Employees of the agency
who participate in violations of the Brown Act cannat be punished criminally under section 54959.
However, at least one district attorney instituted criminal action against employees based on the
theory that they criminally conspired with the members of the legislative body to commit a crime
under section 54949, .

California Gévernment Code section 54959
California Government Code section 54952.6
61 Ops.Cal. Atty.Gen.283 (1978)

California Government Code section 54959

California Government Code section 1222 provides that “[e}very wilful omission to perform any duty
enjoined by law upon any public officer, or person holding any public trust or employment, where no
special provision is made for the punishment of such delinquency, is punishable as a misdemeanor.”

The principle of statutory censtruction known as expressio unius est exclusio alferius supports the view
that section 54959 is the exclusive basis for criminal Hability under the Brown Act.

Updates to this pubtication responding to changes in the Brown Act or new court interpretations
are available at www.cacities.org/opengovernment. A current version of the Brown Act may be
found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

OPEN & PUBLIC V: A GINDE TO THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT










